THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED
JAN 24 2019
SC Court of Appeals

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr.
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2018-001134

Glenda R Couram Appellant,

v.

Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company, Titan Indemnity Company, Eugene Matthews in his individual capacity, Sherwood Plumbing Service, LLC, dba, Beatrice T. Tidwell, Rick Skurko in his official and individual capacity and Tracey Peer in her official and individual capacity
..... Respondents

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Glenda R. Couram
104 Macaw Lane
Lexington, South Carolina 29073
(803) 358-0127
Pro Se Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The lower court erred and abused its discretion in granting Respondents' Motion to Dismiss based on res judicata and collateral estoppel as there was never claims before any court for intentional infliction of emotional, negligent infliction of emotional distress (IIED and NEID); negligent supervision, vicarious liability nor had the Appellant brought any such claims against the named Respondents and the court failed to apply the correct standard in granting a motion for res judicata and collateral estoppel
- II. The lower court erred and abused its discretion in denying Appellant's Motion to Amend *according to well established laws in both federal and State court under Rule 15*
- III. The lower court erred and abused its discretion in dismissing pro se Appellant's claims for civil conspiracy

STATEMENT AND FACTS OF THE CASE

This matter came before the Richland county Court of common Pleas by way of a complaint filed by Appellant on or about July 3, 2017 and amended complaint filed prior to receipt of an answer from the Respondents on July 17, 2017.

In the Complaint Appellant brought causes of action for intentional infliction of emotional Distress (IIED) and negligent infliction of emotional distress (NIED), vicarious liability and negligent entrustment against Sherwood Plumbing Service, LLC and Beatrice Tidwell); common law civil conspiracy, tortious interference with employment relationship and punitive damages as deemed appropriate.

The above claims or causes of actions were *never* litigated previously nor were any of the named defendants named in any other action before this court¹

Respondent Matthews filed initial answer to the initial complaint on or about July 14, 2017 along with the a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and Sanctions dated July 17, 2017; and a supplement to the Judgment on the Pleadings and Sanctions on or about July 21, 2017.

(ROA pp 180-206).

¹ Nationwide and Indemnity was named in Couram v Tidwell but per an Order signed by Judge Hood they were dropped with the stipulation that they could be named later (ROA pp 326 Transcript pp 1-65)

Respondent Tidwell Plumbing Service LLC and Beatrice Tidwell filed their initial Answer on or about August 7, 2017 along with a Motion to Dismiss and Judgment on the Pleadings on or about August 7, 2017. (ROA pp 298-308)

Respondents Nationwide Insurance, Titan Indemnity, et. al., filed an answer on about August 8, 2017 and an Amended Answer on or about August 15, 2017 along with a Motion to Dismiss and a Memorandum in Support for the Motion to Dismiss on September 5, 2017 and Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings August 24, 2017 (ROA pp 122-148).

Plaintiff filed an Answer to the Motions to Dismiss, Sanctions and Judgment on the Pleadings on August 18, 2017 and September 1, 2017.

The pro se Appellant then filed a first time Amended Complaint requiring Court permission on December 4, 2017, pursuant to SCRCF/FRCP Rule 15 requesting to add two new defendants Rick Surko and Tracy Peer with Nationwide Insurance and Indemnity. (ROA pp 64-83).

Appellant filed motion for Continuance dated November 21, 2017 and protection it was granted January 25, 2018; Order dated February 25, 2018. (ROA pp 23a and ROA 348-353).

The Motion hearing was held on or about February 12, 2018, where the response of the court was to have each separate party write their own proposed/outcome and reasons to dismiss or not to dismiss at which time the RESPONDENTS was allowed the opportunity to commit fraud upon the court. (Transcript pages 1-68) and (Proposed Orders ROA pp 354-379).

Judge Cooper granted and filed an Order to Dismiss according SCRCF Rule 12(b) on or about April 20 or 23, 2018. Appellant never received a signed copy of the Order from the Clerk or Judge's Office. (ROA pp 1-23)

The matter was dismissed upon Order of Judge Cooper on or about February 12, 2018. (ROA pp 1-12). Appellant's SCRCP/FRCP Rule 59 Motion to Reconsider was denied on or about May 16, 2018. (ROA pp 23 and ROA 92-121).

Neither of the RESPONDENTS filed a response to the Motion to Reconsider.

After repeated requests Appellant never received a signed copy of the Order dismissing her Complaint or of Denial of the Motion to Reconsider via traditional method from the Judge or the Clerk's Office. On or about May 18, 2018 she did get an email regarding the Motion to Reconsider.

Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on or about June 17, 2018. (ROA pp 329, ROA 319 and ROA 324)²

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Appellant's life was completely and totally destroyed after an automobile accident involving the named Respondents and their efforts to escape liability for the proven negligent actions of their insured; despite an Order of liability signed by Judge Hood and admission of liability by the Respondent insured and the Respondents themselves (ROA pp 326).

Respondents Rick Skurko, Tracy Peer, Sherwood Tidwell Plumbing Service, Beatrice T. Tidwell and Eugene Matthews, et. al., were fully aware and apprised of the Appellant's employment with the SC Department of Motor Vehicles and South Carolina State Government. They knowingly, purposefully, wrongfully and maliciously interfered with the Appellant's employment, livelihood and or ability to make a living, they deliberately destroyed the Appellant's relationship with her employer with malice and intent in complete disregard of her mental and physical health.

² Appellant requested Order of the Transcript and it was received on September 8, 2018

Appellant had been employed for 10.8 years, her future retirement and pension was tied into her employment. She had just obtained tenure allowing increased leave which she had looked forward to for the last two years of her employment. (At the time of termination there were several promotion opportunities that were lost to her).

Appellant had status and standing and could only be dismissed for cause which the defendants' deliberately and intentionally and carelessly provided. Their actions lead to false accusations against the Plaintiff otherwise impugning her credibility and effectiveness as a data entry operator and has prevented any other future employment with SC State Government.

The Respondents actions resulted in their deliberate working together with Matthews who elicited the help of a new employee Heather Martin, Employee Relations Manager, who had been employment less than three months, to maliciously interfere with Appellant's employment that employee who was neither the Appellant's supervisor or manager deliberately contacted an attorney soliciting information that resulted in appellant's termination those attorneys were Lori Shortt, Attorney with Cofield Law Firm on March 7th, 2017. Even after the Appellant was terminated, Matthews and Martin showed up in the court to further harass the Appellant (Appellant was terminated April 3, 2017; the hearing they showed up for was in July 2017). (Matthews also showed up at vocational rehabilitation after Appellant informed the court of her admission). Martin made the call to Shortt to ask her if the plaintiff had been in the court on a day she had asked for FMLA time off; Plaintiff had informed her supervisor and manager of her leave³, told them the matter with Shortt (related to a bill) had been settled; Short took the opportunity to malign the Appellant to Martin who reported the fraudulent information to the

³ Martin was neither the Appellant's supervisor or manager and Matthews actions went well beyond his scope as attorney for SCDMV because the matter he became involved in after appellants termination had nothing to do with SCDMV or SC State government. It was related to an automobile accident that occurred on September 18, 2018 Appellant was not using a state vehicles and she was not on the clock. They targeted the Appellant.

employer (emails available). This conversation which apparently took place on March 7, 2017, lead to the Appellant being terminated on April 3, 2017, for gross misconduct

Such conduct amounts to knowing, tortious and malicious interference with the Plaintiff's employment relationship with SCDMV and has lead to her inability to work for SC State Government in the future, loss of unemployment benefits and lost reputation not to mention she will never find an equal position with her now recorded/documented physical and mental health issues and the fact she is an older black female living in the South.

Not because the Appellant did anything wrong in fact she was the one who was wronged on September 18, 2018 and yet she had paid the price physically and mentally for being a VICTIM.

As a direct and proximate result of the tortious interference with the Appellant's, the repeated refusal to settle when each were fully aware of their liability and admission of liability Appellant has sustained a loss of employment earnings, and earning capacity all of which will extend far into the future given her age. As a direct result of the accident both physically and mentally Appellant is currently on permanent disability.

Nationwide thru their attorney repeatedly contacted the Appellant's employer. They subpoenaed the Appellant's employment records up to three times and even after she had been terminated. They subpoenaed Martin to testify and maintained an ongoing relationship with Matthews to such an extent that resulted in the Appellant mental health deterioration and amounts to stalking with malicious intent to harm. The Appellant called Nationwide after her termination and the result was police being sent to her home and calling of EMS with the report that she was suicidal. The Appellant suffered repeated mental abuse, embarrassment in a neighborhood that she had resided in since 1994.

The Appellant was an innocent victim to each of these individual and companies and she did not deserve the ridicule she suffered and continues to suffer as a result of the actions of the Respondents.

Appellant had not brought causes action against the LLC or Beatrice Tidwell. The company and Beatrice Tidwell had a duty that the breached as their employee was found fully liable and negligent. Appellant had a cause of action against both based solely their own negligence in allowing an unqualified driver to operate a commercial vehicle knowing full well he was impaired and the fact that he admitted not knowing how to operate the brakes of the companies vehicle.

ARGUMENTS

1. STANDARD OF REVIEW IN GRANTING A MOTION TO DISMISS

“Under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, a defendant may move to dismiss a complaint based on failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of actions.” *Spence v Spence*, 368 S.C. 106, 116, 628 S.E.2d 869, 874 (2006). “A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) should not be granted if facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefore entitle the plaintiff to relief under any theory.” *Id.* Furthermore, the complaint should not be dismissed merely because the court doubts the Appellant will prevail in the action. *Id See Toussaint v Ham*, 292 S.C. 415, 357 S.E.2d 8 (1987).

Rather, “[t]he question to be considered is whether, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, the pleadings articulate any valid claim for relief.” *Williams v Condon*, 347 S.C. 227, 233, 553 S.E. 496, 499-500 (Ct. App. 2001); citing, *Toussaint v Ham*, 292 S.C. 415, 357 S.E.2d 8 (1987); *Cowart v Poore*, 337 S.C. 359, 523 S.E. 2d 182 (Ct. app. 1999). “If the facts allege and inferences reasonably deducible thereform, viewed in the light most favorable to the

plaintiff, would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory, then dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is improper.” *Baird v Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999).

Moreover, novel issues should not be decided on a rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF motion. As a general rule, important questions of novel impression should not be decided on a Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF, motion to dismiss.” Appellant allege that claims adjuster in tort actions and their role is a novel question and further review of the tort of civil conspiracy and the question of whether presented below should be review by the courts in order to clarify the tort and its role.

Last, even if the Court determines the pleadings are deficient, Appellants should ordinarily be given leave to amend. *Dockside Ass’n, Inc. v Detyens, Simmons & Carlisle*, 297 S.C. 91, 94, 374 S.E. 2d 907, 909 (Ct. App. 1988) (“where complaint is dismissed under rule 12 (b)(6), plaintiff should be granted leave to file an amended complaint”) (citing *Foman v Davis*, 371 U.S. 178, 83 S. Ct. 277, 9 L.Ed.2d 222 (1962)). See also, *Foman v Davis*, 371 U.S. 178, 83 s. Ct 227, 9 L. Ed. 2d 222 (1962) (“Leave to amend complaint should be freely given in absence of any apparent or declared reasons such as undue delay, bad faith or dilatory motive on part of movant, repeated failure to cure deficiencies by amendments previously allowed, undue prejudice to opposing party by virtue of allowance of amendment, and futility of amendment.”)

II. SOUTH CAROLINA COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL AND RES JUDICATA

Under the doctrine of collateral estoppel, the judgment in the prior suit would preclude relitigation of *issues actually litigated* and necessary to the outcome of the first action. 1B J. Moore, Federal Practice § 0.405[1], pp. 622-624 (2d ed. 1974). “Collateral estoppel/ issue preclusion prohibits the relitigation of issues that have been adjudicated in a prior action.”

Four elements must be proven by the Defendants in order to invoke collateral estoppel: (1) the issue at stake must be identical to the one involved in the prior litigation; (2) the issue must have been actually litigated in the prior suit; (3) the

determination of the issue in the prior litigation must have been a critical and necessary part of the judgment in that action.

The Respondents in this case had not met that burden the motion to dismiss should have been denied based on Collateral estoppel and res judicata.

The claims in this actions is for intentional infliction of emotional distress and negligent infliction of emotional distress; negligent entrustment and vicarious liability; civil conspiracy; tortious interference with employment by a third party.⁴

Stone v Road Express, (SC Sup Ct 2006) “Res judicata requires three elements be met: 1) a final, valid judgment on the merits; 2) identity of parties; and 3) the second action must involve matters properly included in the first suit; e.g. *Latimer v. Farmer*, 360 S.C. 375, 602 S.E.2d 32 (2004).”

Further, the doctrine of collateral estoppel does not apply. “Collateral estoppel prevents a party from relitigating in a subsequent suit an issue actually and necessarily litigated and determined in a prior action.” *Jinks v. Richland County*, 355 S.C. 341, 585 S.E.2d 281 (2003). Respondents’ entitlement to benefits following Stone’s death was neither actually litigated in the first action, nor was the entitlement issue necessary to the resolution of the amount of benefits dispute.

“In *Judy v Judy*, 712 SE, 2d (SC Sup Ct 2011) In order for *res judicata* to operate as a bar to James’s lawsuit for waste, the following elements needed to be proven: (1) identity of the parties; (2) identity of the subject matter; and (3) adjudication of the issue in the former suit. See *Riedman Corp. v. Greenville Steel Structures, Inc.*, 308 S.C. 467, 419 S.E.2d 217 (1992).

Our courts, however, have found that the doctrine of *res judicata* is not an “ironclad” bar to a later lawsuit. *Garris v. Governing Bd. Of the South Carolina Reinsurance Facility*, 333 S.C. 432, 449, 511 S.E.2d 48, 57 (1998).

⁴ The Appellant also had a right to make a living that is everyone’s right in this country and the defendant took that right away from her and then with intent ensured she was also financially destroyed by placing a wedge and maintaining that wedge between her and employer resulting her termination.

Significantly, the *Restatement (Second) of Judgments* has recognized exceptions to the application of this doctrine.^[5] See *Restatement (Second) of Judgments* § 26 (1982 & Supp.2011); *id.* (noting in commentary that section 26 “presents a set of exceptional cases in which, after judgment that would otherwise extinguish the claim under the rules of merger or bar..., the Appellant is nevertheless free to maintain a second action on the same claim or part of it.”).

Although there is no dispute in our jurisprudence regarding the three elements of *res judicata*, our courts have utilized at least four tests in determining whether a claim should have been raised in a prior suit.^[7] Because a determination 172*172 of whether *res judicata* precludes a subsequent suit cannot be reduced to a formulaic process, we decline to adopt or attempt to define a single standard. See *Aliff v. Joy Mfg. Co.*, 914 F.2d 39, 43 (4th Cir.1990) (“There is no simple test to determine what constitutes the same cause of action for *res judicata* purposes. Each case presents different facts that must be assessed within the conceptual framework of the doctrine.”).

Instead, we reiterate and rely on the conceptual framework recognized in *Plum Creek Dev. Co. v. City of Conway*, 334 S.C. 30, 512 S.E.2d 106 (1999), wherein we stated: *Res judicata* bars subsequent actions by the same parties when the claims arise out of the same transaction or occurrence that was the subject of a prior action between those parties. Under the doctrine of *res judicata*, “[a] litigant is barred from raising any issues which were adjudicated in the former suit and any issues which might have been raised in the former suit.” *Id.* at 34, 512 S.E.2d at 109 (citations omitted).

In *Plum Creek*, we also recognized that simply seeking a different remedy in the second lawsuit for the same cause of action does not negate the identical nature of the subjects of the two actions. *Plum Creek Dev. Co.*, 334 S.C. at 35 n. 4, 512 S.E.2d at 109 n. 4. We explained that “[a] claim for damages is a claim for relief rather than an assertion of a different cause of action for purposes of determining the applicability of *res judicata*.” *Id.* at 35, 512 S.E.2d at 109 (quoting 46 *Am.Jur.2d Judgments* § 536 (1994)). Furthermore, we noted that “for purposes of *res judicata*, ‘cause of action’ is not the form of action in which a claim is asserted but, rather the ‘cause for action, meaning the underlying facts combined with the law giving the party a right to a remedy of one form or another based thereon.” *Id.* at 36, 512 S.E.2d at 110 (quoting 50 *C.J.S. Judgment* § 749 (1997)).

Because this conceptual framework is fundamentally sound, we take this opportunity to definitively rule that the four tests previously used by our appellate courts should be considered merely as factors rather than rigid, independent tests.^[8] We believe this approach effectuates the fundamental purpose of *res judicata*, which is to ensure that “no one should be twice sued for the same cause of action.” *First Nat’l Bank of Greenville v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 207 S.C. 15, 24, 35 S.E.2d 47, 56 (1945).’

However, res judicata and collateral estoppel “have been subjected to exceptions to their application.” *Mr. T*, 378 S.C. at 137, 662 S.E.2d at 418. These “preclusive doctrines are not to be rigidly or mechanically applied and must[,] on occasion, yield to more fundamental concerns.” *Id.* at 138, 662 S.E.2d at 419 (quoting *People v. Plevy*, 52 N.Y.2d 58, 436 N.Y.S.2d 224, 417 N.E.2d 518, 521 (1980)). Collateral estoppel or res judicata “may be precluded [when] unfairness or injustice results, or public policy requires it.” *Carrigg v. Cannon*, 347 S.C. 75, 81, 552 S.E.2d 767, 770 (Ct. App. 2001) (citing *State v. Bacote*, 331 S.C. 328, 331, 503 S.E.2d 161, 163 (1998)).

Res judicata’s fundamental purpose is “to ensure that no one should be twice sued for the same cause of action.” *Judy v. Judy*, 393 S.C. 160, 173, 712 S.E.2d 408, 414 (2011) (internal citation omitted). Res judicata bars a second suit where there is (1) identity of parties; (2) identity of subject matter; and (3) adjudication of the issue in the first suit. *Judy*, at 412, 712 S.E.2d at 167. The evidence supports the Master’s conclusion that res judicata settles the title issue as between the State and appellant. See *Yelsen Land Company, Inc., v State*, (SC Sup Ct 2012).

It is clear in the caption, Appellant is not suing the same Defendant, nor is she suing for the same causes of action; nor have any court ruled on these causes of action or injuries.

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