IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the South Carolina Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-001134

RECEIVED
JUL 24 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Glenda R. Couram

Appellant

v.

Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company, Titan Indemnity
Company, Eugene Matthews, in his individual capacity,
Sherwood's Plumbing Services, LLC dba and Beatrice
Tyree Tidwell, Rick Skurko in his official and individual
capacity and Tracey Peer, in her official and individual capacity Respondents

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

J.R. Murphy, Esquire (SC Bar No. 7941)
Murphy & Grantland, P.A.
P.O. Box 6648
Columbia, SC 29260

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant has already received a jury verdict awarding her recovery for the damages she sustained in the Accident. However, Appellant is displeased with the \$1,000.00 jury verdict she received in that case, compared to the settlements she attempted to procure from Respondents. The current case is Appellant's attempt to relitigate the issue of damages from the Accident with newly-phrased claims and new defendants. But *res judicata* and collateral estoppel bar plaintiffs from continuing to use the courts to obtain the verdict they want—Appellant cannot have a second bite at the apple.

Furthermore, even if her claims were not barred by the full and final judgment in the Previous Action, Appellant has failed to allege facts sufficient to constitute each of her causes of action. Her multiple complaints in this case are filled with conclusory statements that she suffered emotional distress, but do not allege any conduct by Respondents that rises to the level of extreme or outrageous conduct that might induce such distress. Her civil conspiracy claim falls short as a matter of law without allegations of acts in furtherance of a conspiracy that are separate and distinct from her other causes of action. Her tortious interference with contract claim merely highlights that Appellant's own allegations of lost wages in the Previous Action justified Respondents' actions to obtain her employment records and talk to her employer. Additionally, Appellant failed to allege how Respondents' due diligence in defending their insured in the Previous Action proximately caused her termination from employment when she explicitly stated she was terminated for cause. Appellant cannot point to a single act of Respondents that amounts to

anything more than defending their insured in the Previous Action. Thus, she has failed to allege facts sufficient to constitute any of her causes of action.

Appellant attempted to obtain a new and greater recovery award from the courts by cloaking the issues litigated in the Previous Action as new claims against new defendants. However, the trial court correctly granted Respondents' Motions to Dismiss because Appellant's claims are barred by *res judicata* and collateral estoppel and none of the allegations in any version of her Complaint, nor the reasonable inferences drawn from her allegations, entitle Appellant to relief on any theory.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing the trial court's grant of Respondents' Motion to Dismiss pursuant to South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), this court applies the same standard of review as the trial court. *Hotel and Motel Holdings, LLC v. BJC Enterprises, LLC*, 414 S.C. 635, 650, 780 S.E.2d 263, 271 (Ct. App. 2015). The court should not dismiss a complaint merely because it doubts the Plaintiff will ultimately prevail. *Benedict College v. National Credit Sys., Inc.*, 400 S.C. 638, 644, 735 S.E.2d 518, 521 (Ct. App. 2012). However, a dismissal is proper when none of the allegations in the Complaint and none of the reasonable inferences drawn from the allegations in the Complaint would entitle the Plaintiff to relief on any theory. *Hotel and Motel Holdings, LLC*, 414 S.C. at 650, 780 S.E.2d at 271.

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court correctly dismissed Appellant's emotional distress claims as barred by *res judicata* and collateral estoppel because Appellant could have litigated these claims and did litigate the issues necessary to support these claims in the Previous Action.

Appellant's intentional infliction of emotional distress (IIED) and negligent infliction of emotional distress (NIED) claims are barred by *res judicata* and collateral estoppel. Yet, even if

her claims were not barred, Appellant failed to allege facts sufficient to constitute IIED and NIED causes of action. Thus, the trial court did not err in granting Respondents' Motion to Dismiss as it pertains to these claims.

A. Appellant's emotional distress claims arose out of the Accident and its settlement process, which were litigated to finality in the Previous Action, and are therefore barred under *res judicata* and collateral estoppel.

Under *res judicata*, a final judgment on the merits in the Previous Action concludes the parties and their privies in a second action based on the same claim and any claims that arise out of the same transaction or occurrence previously litigated. See *Sub-Zero Freezer Co. v. R.J. Clarkson Co.*, 308 S.C. 188, 190–91, 417 S.E.2d 569, 571 (1992); *H.G. Hall Constr. Co., Inc. v. J.E.P. Enters.*, 283 S.C. 196, 203, 321 S.E.2d 267, 271 (Ct. App. 1984). “The term ‘privy,’ when applied to a judgment or decree, means one so identified in interest with another that he represents the same legal right. One in privity is one whose legal interests were litigated in the former proceeding.” *H.G. Hall Constr. Co., Inc.*, 283 S.C. at 204, 321 S.E.2d at 271 (citations omitted).

In the Previous Action, Appellant brought a negligence claim for the Accident against Sherwood Tidwell, which was litigated to finality and resulted in a jury determination that Appellant was owed \$1,000.00 in damages. Respondents, as parties with the same legal interest in the payment due Appellant as Mr. Tidwell, qualify as Mr. Tidwell's privies and cannot, therefore, be subject to any claims that were or could have been litigated in the previous action. *H.G. Hall Constr. Co., Inc.*, 283 S.C. at 204, 321 S.E.2d at 271; *Sub-Zero Freezer Co.*, 308 S.C. at 192, 417 S.E.2d at 571. Appellant's current claims of emotional distress stemming from the settlement process arise out of the same transaction or occurrence as the Previous Action—that is to say, Appellant's current claims again raise the issue of how much recovery Appellant was entitled to receive after the Accident. Because the issue of damages owed to Appellant after the Accident was fully litigated in the Previous Action, Appellant cannot bring these claims against

Respondents as Mr. Tidwell's privies. See *Plum Creek Dev. Corp. v. City of Conway*, 334 S.C. 30, 34, 512 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1999) (any claim that arises out of the same "transaction or occurrence" as the previous lawsuit is barred by *res judicata*); *Sub-Zero Freezer Co.*, 308 S.C. at 190–91, 417 S.E.2d at 571.

Furthermore, "[u]nder the doctrine of collateral estoppel, ... the second action is based upon a different claim and the judgment in the first action precludes relitigation of only those issues actually and necessarily litigated and determined in the first suit." *Beall v. Doe*, 281 S.C. 363, 369 n.1, 315 S.E.2d 186, 189 n.1 (Ct. App. 1986) (internal quotations omitted). Those issues actually and necessarily litigated and decided in the Previous Action are barred under collateral estoppel "regardless of whether the *claims* in the first and subsequent lawsuits are the same." *Carolina Renewal, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't. of Transp.*, 385 S.C. 550, 554, 684 S.E.2d 779, 782 (Ct. App. 2009) (emphasis added). Like *res judicata*, collateral estoppel bars relitigation of the issues against the same parties as well as their privies. *Roberts v. Recovery Bureau, Inc.*, 316 S.C. 492, 496, 450 S.E.2d 616, 619 (Ct. App. 1994). The Previous Action involved the amount of damages to which Appellant was entitled because of the Accident. Appellant's allegations that Respondents refused to settle her claims from the Accident necessarily depend upon the amount of damages to which Appellant was entitled. Because the Previous Action fully litigated the issue of Appellant's recovery from the Accident, Appellant is collaterally estopped from raising these issues in this lawsuit.

Finally, Appellant argues that the trial court should not have dismissed her IIED and NEID claims because they raised "a novel question as to direct victim." (App. Br. 29–32). If the courts denied Motions to Dismiss simply for novel factual questions as to the "direct victims" in each case, the courts would very rarely dismiss claims, even frivolous claims, because every original

case presents a novel factual question as to the “direct victim.” Rather, the court should refrain, upon motions to dismiss, from answering on motions to dismiss only those novel issues with “far reaching effects.” *Springfield v. Williams Plumbing Supply Co.*, 249 S.C. 130, 138, 153 S.E.2d 184, 187 (1967). By Appellant’s own argument, the issues in this case apply only to the “direct victim.” (App. Br. 29–32). Thus, whatever novel issue may be present in this case would not have “far reaching effects,” but would only affect Appellant.

Regardless, despite Appellant’s arguments to the contrary, her claims are not novel—the issues at the heart of her claims were fully and finally litigated in the Previous Action. Appellant is barred from relitigating the same claims or issues necessarily decided in the Previous Action, and the trial court did not err in dismissing Appellant’s IIED and NIED claims under *res judicata* and collateral estoppel. This is especially true considering, as discussed below, that Appellant also has failed to allege facts sufficient to constitute causes of action for IIED and NIED. *Springfield*, 249 S.C. at 138–39, 153 S.E.2d at 188 (“If a plaintiff has clearly not alleged facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, a [movant] is, of course, entitled to have his [motion to dismiss granted] and be saved the expense and trouble of a trial.”).

B. Even if her emotional distress claims were not barred by *res judicata* and collateral estoppel, Appellant failed to allege facts sufficient to constitute causes of action.

A claim for IIED requires Appellant to allege that: “(1) the defendant intentionally or recklessly inflicted severe emotional distress, or was certain, or substantially certain, that such distress would result from his conduct; (2) the conduct was so extreme and outrageous so as to exceed all possible bounds of decency and must be regarded as atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community; (3) the actions of the defendant caused plaintiff’s emotional distress; and (4) the emotional distress suffered by the plaintiff was severe such that no reasonable man could be expected to endure it.” *Hansson v. Scalise Builders of S.C.*, 374 S.C. 352, 356, 650 S.E.2d 68,

71 (2007) (quoting *Ford v. Hutson*, 276 S.C. 157, 162, 276 S.E.2d 776, 778 (1981)) (internal quotations and citation omitted).

Appellant alleges Respondents' conduct that was "so extreme and outrageous as to exceed all possible bounds of decency and to be regarded as atrocious and utterly intolerable in a civilized society" was the insurers' provision of an effective defense of their insured in the Previous Action and their refusal to offer more than \$20,000.00 in settlement for a case that resulted in a \$1,000.00 jury verdict. (See 2nd Am. R. p. 31, ¶ 41). However, even if Appellant's factual allegations "demonstrate unprofessional, inappropriate behavior, they fall short of conduct that exceeds all possible bounds of decency and is atrocious and utterly intolerable in a civilized society" necessary for an IIED claim. *Gattison v. S.C. State Coll.*, 318 S.C. 148, 157, 456 S.E.2d 414, 419 (Ct. App. 1995).

Furthermore, Appellant has failed to allege more than mere bald assertions of emotional distress she suffered. Appellant's conclusory statements that she sustained "severe emotional distress" and "humiliation, embarrassment, mental anguish, emotional distress..." are insufficient to allege the occurrence of emotional distress, even if "the emotional distress suffered...was and continues to [be] serious and severe." (2nd Am. R. pp. 31–32, ¶¶ 42–43, 48). The manifestation of a "fever blister that remained four days after the trial" (2nd Am. R. p. 33, ¶ 50), likewise is not enough to support Appellant's claims of intentional infliction of emotional distress. Indeed, a reasonable man could be expected to endure a fever blister. See *Hansson*, 374 S.C. at 356, 650 S.E.2d at 71 (stating that the emotional distress required for an IIED claim is distress so severe "no reasonable man could be expected to endure it").

Relatedly, Appellant fails to allege facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for NIED. In South Carolina, only bystanders may recover for NIED. See *Kinard v. Augusta Sash & Door*

Co., 286 S.C. 579, 582 n.2, 336 S.E.2d 465, 467 n.2 (1985) (“Our adoption of the [NIED] cause of action is limited to ‘by-stander recovery.’”); *Doe v. Greenville Cty. Sch. Dist.*, 375 S.C. 63, 68, 651 S.E.2d 305, 307 (2007) (holding that where plaintiffs alleged an NIED claim outside the context of bystander recovery, they had “not stated a claim which is cognizable under South Carolina law”). Appellant argues she was the direct victim of Respondents’ actions and does not claim to be a bystander. Thus, she cannot recover for NIED, and the trial court did not err in dismissing this claim.

Finally, imbedded within her arguments about her IIED and NEID claims, Appellant argues that the court abdicated its role and put “the duties of a judge” in Respondents’ hands, presumably by allowing Respondents to draft the proposed order granting Respondents’ Motions to Dismiss. (App. Br. 17, 26). Appellant argues that this was “unjust, prejudicial and against the constitution and the express goals of the judiciary....” (App. Br. 26). However, “it is common practice for judges to ask a party to draft a proposed order for the sake of efficiency.” *Hall v. Catoe*, 360 S.C. 353, 365, 601 S.E.2d 335, 341 (2004). Thus, there is no merit to Appellant’s argument that the court abdicated its role and it was unjust and prejudicial for Respondents to draft the proposed order later adopted by the trial court in dismissing this case.

II. The Circuit Court correctly dismissed Appellant’s civil conspiracy claim because Appellant failed to allege facts in furtherance of a civil conspiracy separate and independent from the facts alleged in her other causes of action.

“In a civil conspiracy claim, one must plead additional acts in furtherance of the conspiracy separate and independent from other wrongful acts alleged in the complaint, and the failure to properly plead such acts will merit the dismissal of the claim.” *Hackworth v. Greywood at Hammett, LLC*, 385 S.C. 110, 115–16, 682 S.E.2d 871, 875 (Ct. App. 2009). The trial court properly dismisses a civil conspiracy claim where the civil conspiracy action “does no more than

incorporate the prior allegations and then allege the existence of a civil conspiracy” and pray for damages resulting from the conspiracy with no allegations of additional acts in furtherance of the conspiracy. *See Todd v. S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co.*, 276 S.C. 284, 293, 278 S.E.2d 607, 611 (1981).

Appellant’s Amended Complaint merely states that the Respondents “jointly operated to perpetrate the wrongful acts complained of herein” and “agreed and conspired with each other to engage in the alleged wrongful conduct, including Defendants’ interference with plaintiff [sic] employment relationships by coming to an agreement between them to do an unlawful act or to do a lawful act in an unlawful way” (2nd Am. R. pp. 33–34, ¶¶ 52, 59). Nowhere in the civil conspiracy section of her Amended Complaint did Appellant set forth what constituted the “wrongful acts” or “unlawful acts” committed by the Respondents. Thus, the alleged “wrongful acts complained of herein” must refer to those acts previously alleged in her Amended Complaint in the “Facts Common to All Causes of Action” section of her Amended Complaint. Because Appellant merely incorporated into her civil conspiracy claim her allegations previously alleged in the Amended Complaint and failed to set forth additional acts in furtherance of the conspiracy, Appellant’s civil conspiracy claim fails as a matter of law. *See Hackworth*, 385 S.C. at 116, 682 S.E.2d at 875. The trial court did not err in dismissing this claim. *Id.* at 116, 682 S.E.2d at 875 (dismissing a civil conspiracy claim where the plaintiff “reiterated verbatim” the allegations contained in its other causes of action).

Nevertheless, relying on the dissent in *Allegro, Inc. v. Scully, et al.*, 418 S.C. 24, 791 S.E.2d 140 (2016), Appellant argues that the lower court applied the wrong standard in dismissing her civil conspiracy claim. In *Allegro*, the Court found the plaintiff failed to plead special damages “emanating solely from the conspiracy,” and dismissed the civil conspiracy claim. 418 S.C. at 34,

791 S.E.2d at 145. Chief Justice Pleicones, however, disagreed with the majority because he believed the “special damages” requirement for a civil conspiracy claim is to prevent double recovery rather than to prescribe a method of pleading for a civil conspiracy claim. *Id.* at 36–37, 791 S.E.2d at 146–47.

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